ISSUES PRESENTED 

I. Is a party seeking to disqualify a trial judge for alleged lack of 

impartiality exempt from Code of Civil Procedure section l 70.3(c) ' s 

requirement that a verified statement of disqualification is to be filed "at the 

earliest practicable opportunity?" 

II. Is Code of Civil Procedure section l 70.2' s provision that it is not 

grounds for disqualification that a judge "in any capacity expressed a view 

on a legal or factual issue presented in the proceeding," inapplicable if, on 

review, an appellate court determines such issue was not "properly" before 

the court? 

INTRODUCTION 

This case involves a published Opinion of the Court of Appeal for 

the Fifth Judicial District that would, if not vacated, create new law in 

conflict with decades of the published decisions of this Court, as well as 

every Court of Appeal, interpreting the California judicial disqualification 

statutes set forth at Code of Civil Procedure, Sections 170.1 through 170.5. 1 

By granting review, this Court can correct and avoid the undesirable 

burdens this Opinion otherwise would place on courts, the previously 

precluded abuses by disappointed litigants that would otherwise be enabled, 

1 Unless otherwise noted, all further statutory references will be to the 
California Code of Civil Procedure. 
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and the weakening of policy to promote public confidence m the 

impartiality of the judiciary that otherwise would occur. 

The Opinion contains two specific erroneous holdings that will 

create confusion, conflicts with existing law, and poor policy. The first of 

these is a determination that, notwithstanding language in Section 170.3(c) 

requiring a party asserting disqualification of a judge to file a verified 

statement at the "earliest practicable opportunity," no time limit applies to 

such a filing if the alleged ground for disqualification is personal bias or 

prejudice, or prior involvement of the judge as an attorney or material 

witness in the matter over which he or she presides. As a corollary to this 

holding, the Opinion further holds that such claims can never be waived by 

an aggrieved litigant, and therefore, a judge may not strike them as 

untimely despite language in Section 170.4, subd. (b ), expressly authorizing 

him or her to do so. 

The basis for this Opinion is Section 170.3, subds. (b)(2)(A) and 

(b )(2)(B), which provide: 

(2) There shall be no waiver of disqualification if the basis 
therefor is either of the following: 

(A) The judge has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a 
party. 

(B) The judge served as an attorney m the matter in 
controversy, or the judge has been a material witness 
concerning that matter. 
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Since the time the foregoing language was added by amendment in 

1990, courts have interpreted it as applicable only to the process of judicial 

self-disqualification pursuant to Section 170.3 subds. (a) and (b)(l), 

because subdivision (a) requires a judge to self-report if he or she 

determines a ground for disqualification exists, and subdivision (b )(1) 

authorizes such a judge to ask the parties if they wish to file a mutual 

written waiver of the disqualification, with the specific caveat that such 

request is not permitted if the ground for disqualification is one set forth in 

subdivision (b )(2)(A) or (b )(2)(B). 

On the other hand, Section 170.3 (c) provides that if a judge who 

should disqualify himself or herself fails or refuses to do so, a party may 

seek disqualification by filing a verified statement setting forth the alleged 

grounds therefor. That section requires a party to file such a statement "at 

the earliest practicable opportunity," without distinguishing among the 

possible alleged grounds for disqualification. 

Since the time of the 1990 amendment, adding subdivisions 

(b )(2)(A) and (b )(2)(B), California courts have regarded those provisions as 

inapplicable to a party's verified statement of disqualification, routinely 

holding that such a statement is untimely if not filed "at the earliest 

practicable opportunity," regardless of the alleged grounds. The phrase 

"earliest practicable opportunity" predates the 1990 amendment by some 

63 years, and this Court held long ago that it was clearly intended by the 
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Legislature as an independent method of judicial disqualification, separate 

and distinct from judicial self-disqualification, and having the obvious 

implication that the Legislature intended any objection not filed at the 

earliest practicable opportunity after learning the relevant facts to be 

forfeited. (Caminetti v. Pac. Mutual Life Ins. Co. of Cal. (1943) 22 Cal.2d 

386, 392-393.) 

The policy underlying the brief limitations period for a party to file a 

verified claim disqualification is consistent with all other rules relating to 

judicial disqualification: Public confidence in the impartiality of the 

judiciary requires prompt action, including prompt adjudication of any 

timely-filed claims. Judges who self-report are expected to do so without 

delay, and to step aside unless the parties agree to a permissible waiver. 

Appeals are not permitted for disputes involving judicial disqualification; 

the expedited process of writ review is required. 

Promptness also supports a long-established policy that prevents 

litigants from withholding grounds for disqualification, intending not to 

seek disqualification unless a hearing or trial does not go well. The practice 

of "playing fast and loose" with the judiciary is precluded by the 

requirement that all disqualification claims asserted by a party must be 

asserted at the first practicable opportunity after learning the facts on which 

the claim is based. By holding that a party's bias, prejudice, and prior 

involvement grounds are never waived, the Court of Appeal would enable 
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the very practice the Legislature intended to eliminate when it adopted the 

"earliest practicable opportunity" standard in 1927. 

As discussed below, the Court of Appeal misinterpreted the 

Legislative history behind the enactment of the 1990 amendments, even 

though the Opinion cites to the leading case that explains it. The 

amendments were adopted at the request of the judiciary, and were intended 

to make the law consistent with self-imposed standards of judicial conduct, 

by limiting the grounds for disqualification a judge could ask the parties to 

waive. Ethical standards already prohibited a judge from asking parties to 

waive bias, prejudice, or personal involvement in a suit-the law should 

contain the same prohibition. The 1990 amendments were never intended 

to give litigants a pass to engage in gamesmanship by strategically 

withholding allegations of bias until the most opportune time. (Here, it was 

after 15 years of litigation, literally on the eve of entry of a $43.5 million 

judgment.) 

Because the Opinion also states that a statement of disqualification 

for bias can be filed with no time limit, and that the matter must be referred 

to another judge for determination if such statement contains any factual 

allegation supporting bias (whether or not true), disappointed litigants can 

use a last-minute bias charge as a standard last effort to revive a failed case. 

The alleged grounds for such a charge can date back to anything the judge 

did or said at any time, even before the commencement of the litigation. If 
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not vacated, the Court of Appeal's holding in this case will unleash havoc 

on already overburdened courts, as the Judicial Council struggles to assign 

judges to hear post-trial disqualification charges that could become as 

routine as motions for new trial of for judgment notwithstanding the 

verdict. 

The second erroneous holding in the Opinion simply introduces 

judge-made conditions to the application of Section 170.2, subd. (b) which 

states "[i]t shall not be grounds for disqualification that a judge .. . [h]as in 

any capacity expressed a view on a legal or factual issue presented in the 

proceeding," with exceptions not applicable here. Although the alleged 

statements evidencing "bias" in this case occurred in the context of the 

judge expressing his belief that the defendants were being untruthful and 

defiant of the court's discovery orders, the Court of Appeal declined to 

apply Section 170.2, subd. (b ), stating that claims different than the ones 

Plaintiffs/Real Parties were asserting were not "properly," before the court 

and had not been "ultimately decided." The statute contains no such 

conditions or requirements, and the Opinion now suggests that parties can 

raise such grounds to deny a judge the obvious protection to make rulings 

on veracity, guilt, and other disputed matters, based on the evidence before 

him or her. 
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BACKGROUND 

Although this wage and hour class action suit is complicated and 

ancient, the fact related to the instant dispute are relatively simple. The case 

was tried without a jury, and after finding liability for unpaid overtime 

wages in favor of a class of exempt-classified employees, the court ordered 

hearings before a referee. After roughly 250 individual hearings, the referee 

issue a report which was adopted by the court with some modifications, 

setting the amount of restitution owed to class members at roughly 

$43.5 million, including prejudgment interest accrued over many years. 

(RPA 1607-1705.) In late 2018, before the completion of the referee 

proceedings, plaintiffs/Real Parties learned of a transaction through press 

releases, by which original defendant North American Title Company 

appeared to sell most of its California assets without compensation directly 

to the defendant. (RP A 15 8-169.) 

Plaintiffs/Real Parties asked Defendant for information, but little 

was given. Plaintiffs/Real Parties discovered that a newly formed 

corporation initially name States Title FTS Title Company and later named 

Doma Title of California, Inc. was the transferee of the bulk of the original 

defendant's California escrow offices. Concerned that the original 

defendant would be left with insufficient assets to satisfy the impending 

judgment against it, Plaintiffs/Real Parties sought leave of court to amend 

their complaint to name Doma Title as defendant, based on evidence the 
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defendant formerly known as North American Title Company now 

consisted two parts, including of the remains of the original defendant 

(named CalAtlantic Title for a time, and now called Lennar Title, Inc.) plus 

the newly incorporated Doma Title of California, Inc. 

The court initially denied Plaintiffs/real parties' motion to amend the 

complaint, but eventually granted it based on Code of Civil Procedure 

sections 473(a)(l) and 187. (RPA 1621-1623; 1702-1703.) Meanwhile, 

after the court granted plaintiffs/Real Parties' Motion to re-open limited 

discovery, defendants largely stonewalled all efforts to obtain more 

infonnation about the sale of North American Title Company's assets, and 

twice produced "person most knowledgeable" deponents who knew little or 

nothing about that transaction. (RPA 516-546; 1133-1303.) In addition, 

the original defendant sold its original name and adopted a new one, but 

concealed that fact from the plaintiffs and the court for over two years, 

misrepresenting to the court in the interim that although there had been a 

transaction, it had changed nothing and had not affected the employment of 

class members. (RP A 286-287 .) 

After adding Doma Title of California to the complaint plaintiffs/real 

parties declined to serve that entity with summons and complaint on the 

theory that it had been appearing in a different form and under a different 

name since the inception of the suit. Doma filed a motion to quash 

(although no summons had been served, and the motion was denied. At the 
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June 2021 hearing on the motion to quash, the trial judge expressed a belief 

that Defendant Lennar Title had been concealing the its transactions and 

identity to avoid liability and that Lennar Title 's counsel had not been and 

was not being fully truthful with the court about the identity of his client. 

These statements are the primary bases for Lennar Title's current statement 

of disqualification, based on alleged bias. The Statement of Disqualification 

also alleges evidence of bias, based on comments made in November 2021. 

The Statement was not filed until August 18, 2022. The trial judge struck 

the Statement as untimely, pursuant to the timeliness requirement of 

Section 170.3, subd. (c), and the express authorization given m 

Section 170.4, subd. (b ). Defendant Lennar Title's writ petition followed, 

resulting in the Opinion that is the basis of this Petition for Review. 

Opinion, Petition for Rehearing, and Order Modifying Opinion and 
Denying Rehearing 

The Court of Appeal issued and filed its Opinion (the "Opinion") on 

May 19, 2023. Real Parties in Interest filed a Petition for Rehearing on 

June 5, 2023. The Petition asked for rehearing to correct certain 

erroneously stated facts, and to include omitted facts concerning (a) the 

actual allegations of Plaintiffs ' /Real Parties' operative Complaint at the 

time the trial judge made the comments which were the basis for the writ 

petitioner's claim of bias, and (b) the disputes and issues that were before 

the trial judge at the time of the comments, and during the two years 
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leading up to that date. The Petition for Rehearing also asked the Court of 

Appeal to address these omitted facts in its discussions concerning the 

alleged bias of the trial judge, and the applicability of Section 170.2, 

subd. (b ). The Court of Appeal issued and filed an Order Modifying 

Opinion and Denying Rehearing on June 13, 2023 , with no change in 

judgment. The Petition for Rehearing and Order Modifying are discussed in 

greater detail in Section II of the Legal Discussion, below. 

LEGAL DISCUSSION 

I. THE OPINION INCORRECTLY DEPARTS FROM THE 
WELL-SETTLED INTERPRETATION OF THE "EARLIEST 
PRACTICABLE OPPORTUNITY" PROVISION OF CODE 
OF CIVIL PROCEDURE SECTION 170.3, SUBD. (c), BY 
HOLDING A PARTY'S JUDICIAL DISQUALIFICATION 
CLAIMS BASED ON ALLEGED BIAS OR PREJUDICE ARE 
NEVER WAIVED AND MAY NOT BE STRICKEN AS 
UNTIMELY 

A. Courts Have Long Interpreted Statutory Procedures for 
Judicial Disqualification by a Party's Verified Statement 
as Separate From Procedures for Judicial Self­
Disqualification 

Section 170.3 provides two separate mechanisms for disqualification 

of a judge. First, Section 170.3 subd. (a) states a self-disqualification 

process by which a judge discloses grounds for disqualification to the 

parties. Section 170.3 subd. (b)(l) permits the judge, subject to restrictions 

stated in Section 170.3 subd. (b )(2)(A) and (b )(2)(B), to ask the parties if 

they wish to file a mutual written waiver of the stated grounds, thereby 

allowing the judge to continue to preside over the case. The given 
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restrictions are that the parties may not waive a disqualification if it is 

based on (A) a "personal bias or prejudice concerning a party," or (B) the 

judge's previous involvement in the matter in controversy as an attorney or 

material witness. 

The second mechanism for judicial disqualification appears in 

Section 170.3 sub. ( c ), which applies where "the judge fails or refuses" to 

disqualify himself or herself, in which case a party may file a verified 

statement, setting forth alleged grounds for disqualification. This party­

initiated disqualification process involves two statutory limitations periods. 

First, the complaining party ' s verified statement must be filed "at the 

earliest practicable opportunity after discovery of the facts constitution the 

ground for disqualification." Next, the filing of the statement commences a 

10-day period during which the challenged judge must (a) file an answer, 

responding to the allegations in the verified statement, (b) without 

conceding any alleged impartiality, recuse himself or herself from further 

participation in the case, or ( c) strike the statement as untimely or as failing 

to disclose on its face legal grounds for disqualification, pursuant to the 

express authority of Section 170.4 subd. (b ). (See Urias v. Harris Farms 

(1991) 234 Cal.App.3d 415,421 ; Civ. Proc. Code§§ 170.3 subds. (c)(2), 

(c)(3), (c)(4), and 170.4 (b).) If the challenged judge files an answer, the 

question of disqualification will be determined by a different judge, 

pursuant to provisions in Section 170.3, subds. (c)(5) and (c)(6). 
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Prior to the Opinion of the Court of Appeal ("Opinion") in the 

instant case, California Courts have not given identical treatment to the two 

disqualification mechanisms set forth in Section 170.3. The Opinion 

represents a radical departure from any previous interpretation of the 

disqualification statutes, which, as discussed below, conflicts with 

important policies and will, if not vacated, create unnecessary delays and 

impose unwarranted burdens on trial courts. 

Whereas, a written, mutual waiver by the parties m a case of a 

judge's self-disqualification is a "waiver" in the traditional sense, courts 

have treated the "earliest practicable opportunity" requirement of 

Section 170.3 subd. (c) as a limitations period, resulting inforfeiture of the 

right to seek disqualification for any reason, if a verified statement is not 

timely filed.2 

This Court has explained that the phrase "earliest practicable 

opportunity" first appeared in Section 170.3 's predecessor statute in 1927, 

and that the Legislature's intention in adding it was to create a separate 

waiver mechanism, independent of the written waiver given mutually by 

the parties following a judge's voluntary disclosure of grounds for 

disqualification. (Caminetti v. Pac. Mutual Life Ins. Co. of Cal. (1943) 

2 See Goodwin v Commerica Bank (2021) 72 Cal.App.5th 858, 867 fn. 8 
["Whereas forfeiture is the failure to make the timely assertion of a right, 
waiver is the intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known 
right"]; People v. Simon (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1082, 1097 fn. 9 [" [T]he terms 
'waiver' ·and 'forfeiture' have long been used interchangeably."] 
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22 Cal.2d 386, 392 [" ... the 1927 amendment affords an additional 

statutory means by which a disqualification arising under subdivision 3 of 

section 170 may be waived, viz., failure to urge such disqualification at the 

'earliest practicable opportunity."'] 

In Caminetti, this Court also addressed the implicit forfeiture 

resulting from a party's failure to file a timely verified statement of 

disqualification: " While the 1927 amendment does not specify in so many 

words a penalty for failure to urge disqualification at the ' earliest 

practicable opportunity," the intention is clear that failure to comply with 

the provision constitutes a waiver. Any other construction would render the 

amendment ineffective." (Id. at 392-393 .) 

The "earliest practicable opportunity" language has remained in 

subsequent revisions of the disqualification statutes, and remains a 

requirement for the filing of a verified statement of disqualification by a 

party, and California courts have continued to treat it as an independent 

statute of limitations with which failure to comply results in a forfeiture of 

a party ' s right to seek disqualification, regardless of the anti-waiver 

provisions of Section 170.3 , subd. (b )(2). (See, e.g., Alhusainy v. Superior 

Court (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 385, 393-394 [failure of a party to file 

verified statement alleging actual bias at earliest practicable opportunity 

resulted in forfeiture of objection]; People v. Seaton (2001) 26 Cal.4th 598, 

698 [ criminal defendant did not preserve claim of personal bias because he 
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failed to make timely objection to judge's allegedly improper acts]; 

People v. Hines (1997) 15 Cal.4th 997, 1040-1041 [criminal defendant' s 

failure to raise timely objection to judge's alleged pro-prosecution bias 

waived objection] ; Tri Counties Bank v. Superior Court (2008) 

167 Cal.App.4th 1332, 1336-1337 [petitioner's statement of objection to 

judge's alleged bias was properly stricken for failure to file at earliest 

practicable opportunity]; People v. Scott (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1188, 1207 

[criminal defendant's failure to comply with Section 170.3 sub. (c) (1) by 

seeking judge's disqualification at earliest practicable opportunity forfeited 

right to pursue objection]; People v. Bryant (1987) 190 Cal.App.3d 1569, 

1572-1573 [ claim that judge who learned of past crimes, lying, and drug 

use while presiding over criminal defendant's fitness hearing could not be 

impartial as trial judge was waived by failure to raise timely objection 

under Section 170.3 subd. (c)(l)].) 

It is noteworthy that one of the numerous cases with which this 

newest holding of the Fifth District Court of Appeal conflicts is Tri 

Counties Bank, supra, which was also decided by the Fifth District. 3 Both

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