**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

NORTH AMERICAN TITLE
COMPANY, et al.,

Petitioners,

SUPERIOR COURT OF FRESNO
COUNTY,

Respondent,

CAROLYN CORTINA, et al.

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S280752

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR
REVIEW**

On review from the decision of the
Court of Appeal of the State of
California, Fifth Appellate District,
Case No. F084913

Superior Court of California,
County of Fresno,
Case No. 07CECG01169

*Barbara J. Miller (SBN 167223)
John D. Hayashi (SBN 167223)
MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP
600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 1800
Costa Mesa, CA 92626
Telephone No. (714) 830-0600
Facsimile No. (714) 830-0700
barbara.miller@morganlewis.com

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

² Citations are to the Code of Civil Procedure unless otherwise noted.

consistent with the statutory language and scheme, that a judge accused of personal bias should not be able to avoid the issue of bias by striking a statement of disqualification as untimely. Review should be denied for a number of reasons.

First, no prior case has substantively analyzed the issue of how Section 170.3(b)(2), which provides that certain grounds for disqualification are non-waivable, interacts with Sections 170.3(c)(1) [a statement of disqualification must be brought at the earliest practicable opportunity] and 170.4(b) [allowing an accused judge, in some circumstances, to strike a statement of disqualification as untimely]. Thus, there are no conflicting decisions concerning the relationship among these statutes. Indeed, the court of appeal meticulously examined, distinguished, and built upon prior case law, harmonizing it all with an evolving statutory scheme governing judicial disqualification.

Second, the court of appeal's decision does not interfere with the public policies animating the judicial disqualification statute. The legislature exercised its judgment in weighing policy concerns and concluded some grounds for disqualification—like personal bias or prejudice—cannot be waived. *See* Section 170.3(b)(2). This Court recognized such non-waivable bias scenarios more than 100 years ago, *see Lindsay-Strathmore Irrigation Dist. v. Superior Court* (1920) 182 Cal.

315, 331-32, and reiterated that recognition by distinguishing different grounds for disqualification that may be waived if not presented “at the ‘earliest practicable opportunity.’” *See Caminetti v. Pacific Mut. Life Ins. Co.* (1943) 22 Cal.2d 386, 390 (a case petitioners feature, e.g., Pet. 9, 17, 18). This makes sense. Judicial disqualification statutes aim to preserve the public’s perception of a fair and impartial judiciary. The legislature logically concluded that some grounds for disqualification are so serious that they necessarily warrant neutral evaluation even if the accused judge thinks the accusation of bias is untimely. Such an interpretation of the statutory scheme adheres to this Court’s jurisprudence, which has “invariably held the disqualification statute should be broadly construed” in furtherance of “an important purpose—to instill public confidence in the judiciary.” (Op. 20 [citing cases]).

Third, petitioners ignore this venerable rule of “liberal” statutory construction, (Op. 20), sponsoring instead the idea that all accusations of personal bias can be waived unless the accused judge self-reports potential bias. Such a rule is counter-intuitive. It does not reflect a broad construction of the statutory language and it does not promote the important public policies of jealously protecting both the judiciary’s impartiality and the public’s respect for the courts. A neutral assessment of personal bias accusations is all the more necessary to

advance these important public policies when the accused judge tries to suppress independent review of his conduct by unilateral action.

Fourth, petitioners incorrectly argue the decision here will encourage dilatory and improper tactical use of disqualification remedies. Not so. As the court of appeal recognized, there are various means to discourage misuse of disqualification remedies and quickly dispatch truly meritless accusations. (Op. 32-33). This record shows how allowing an accused judge to block neutral review, by striking bias allegations as untimely, serves to delay expeditious resolution of disqualification issues.

Fifth, although the court of appeal did not reach the issue, real party's statement of disqualification was filed "at the earliest practicable opportunity after discovery of the facts constituting the ground for disqualification." Section 170.3(c). This is not a case involving untoward delay and, therefore, not a good vehicle for considering how to resolve such a case of actual delay.

In sum, as to petitioners' first issue for review, there is no need for this Court to intervene: (1) the decision does not create conflict in California law; it addresses a heretofore undecided issue; (2) the decision is consistent with the public policies animating the disqualification statute; and (3) the statement of disqualification was in fact timely.

As to petitioner's second issue for review, there is, again, no conflict in decision and no important issue for review. Petitioners are complaining about case and fact-specific issues, which would in all circumstance not now be ripe for review. The court of appeal decided the statement of disqualification presented facially sufficient grounds. Assuming the judge does not consent to disqualification, a neutral judicial officer will determine whether disqualification is appropriate. The propriety of such a determination can be addressed after it is made on a developed record. That assessment can consider the relevance, if any, of Section 170.2(b), which provides that a judge may not be disqualified because he or she "[h]as in any capacity expressed a view on a legal or factual issue presented in the proceedings"

As importantly, petitioners' second issue for review is based on a misinterpretation of the statute they invoke. Section 170.2(b) does not allow a judge to be disqualified based on prior rulings. Here, the personal bias allegations are sufficient to invoke disqualification because the trial judge predetermined issues that were never presented to him where the available evidence belies his view that the real party in interest and a former defendant orchestrated a scheme to dissipate the assets available to pay a judgment. On its face, Section 170.2(b) does not protect a judge who forms unilateral opinions on subjects never

presented to the court and then wields his misimpressions about never addressed issues against parties and counsel who come before him on unrelated issues.

For these reasons, and the others discussed here, review should be denied.

II. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a wage and hour class-action case that has been pending for over fifteen years. The claims against defendant-real party in interest Lennar Title, Inc. (“Lennar Title”) were tried to the court in 2015. After liability was determined, referee proceedings began to determine damages. (Op. 3). This case is long-lived and has a complex procedural history that petitioners exacerbated by attempting to add a new party after trial without serving process and without any proceedings or evidence to establish liability for the newly added defendant.

The events relevant to this proceeding began after the trial and before judgment. In 2018, Lennar Title entered into various business transactions unrelated to the wage and hour case: certain of Lennar Title’s assets were sold in the ordinary course of business to a separate entity now called Doma. (Op. 4). At that time, Lennar Title was known as North American Title Company, Inc., but a series of name changes

culminated in its current name, “Lennar Title, Inc.” Among the assets Doma acquired was Lennar Title’s former name: “North American Title Company, Inc.” Doma briefly operated under that name but was recognized at all times in California’s state corporation records as a corporation separate from Lennar Title, with a separate state corporate ID number. (Op. 4). Both Lennar Title and Doma amended their respective articles of incorporation in 2019 to reflect the changes brought about by the asset sale transaction. (Op. 4).

Petitioners imagined and convinced Judge Hamilton, the judicial officer who tried the liability phase of this case, that there was a nefarious purpose behind these business decisions: to dissipate Lennar’s Title’s assets in the face of a judgment being entered against it in the wage and hour case. Petitioners sought to amend their complaint to add Doma as a defendant.³ (Op. 5-6). At the hearing on the motion to amend, Judge Hamilton expressed his opinion that the defendants were “playing a shell game” and trying to avoid a big liability. He allowed

³ Petitioners misrepresent what happened in discovery related to the Lennar Title/Doma transaction. (*See* Op. 5). Lennar Title produced the entire transaction agreement with all relevant schedules and the president of Lennar Title was produced for a Person Most Knowledgeable deposition. Lennar Title fully cooperated in this discovery. Petitioners just did not like the answers they got because they did not fit their narrative of the transaction as somehow nefarious and an effort to dissipate Lennar Title’s assets.

petitioners' proposed amendment, despite having just issued a tentative ruling indicating that he would deny the motion to amend because the claims against Doma did not relate back so as to make them timely for limitations purposes. (Op. 5-8).

Following the amendment, petitioners chose not to serve Doma. Doma moved to quash the complaint because it had never been served. (Op. 8-9). At the time of the motion to quash hearing, in June 2021, Lennar Title was operating under its current name, and Judge Hamilton, apparently annoyed by the name change, battered Lennar Title's counsel asking him if he "was sure about all those names"; the court disputed counsel's statements, saying "Well you're not sure though; right? You just believe you do or are you 100 percent?" (Op. 9-10). Then, addressing Doma's counsel, Judge Hamilton asserted his belief that there was a "name game shell game that we are playing." He berated Doma's counsel about an obvious typo in a filed document where the word "Title" was instead spelled "Titel," asking if this was "more trickery." (Op. 10). Judge Hamilton expressly embraced petitioners' view that there was "scheming to prevent collection of the forthcoming judgment through a corporate game of three-card monte." (Op. 10).

There is no basis in the record for these views. As the court of appeal correctly noted, at the time of these statements "issues of

fraudulent transfer, alter ego, or successor liability were never properly presented to the [superior] court.”⁴ (Op. 2). That remained true even at the time of the court of appeal’s writing.

Judge Hamilton denied the motion to quash for lack of service of process on Doma based on his mistaken insistence that Doma and Lennar Title were the same entity despite California state corporation records showing them to be separate entities. (Op. 11). Consequently, Doma secured from the court of appeal a writ of mandate requiring that Doma be served with process. (Op. 12).

Eventually, Doma was properly served. It promptly exercised its right to file a preemptory challenge under Section 170.6. Judge Hamilton denied that challenge and Doma filed another petition for a writ of mandate. (Op. 13).

Doma also filed a statement of disqualification for cause pursuant to Section 170.1 based on Judge Hamilton’s statements accusing Doma of participating in a sham transaction with Lennar Title. (Op. 13).

Judge Hamilton answered on November 10, 2021 with a verified

⁴ Although petitioners’ third amended complaint included alter ego and joint enterprise allegations, there was no motion presented by any party through which it would have been proper to adjudicate those issues. No version of petitioner’s complaints alleges fraudulent transfer. The parties had no opportunity to submit evidence or legal arguments.

statement that he was not biased against Doma, because, in making his statements about such things as a “shell game” and “three-card monte” the court “was CLEARLY referring to [Lennar Title] attempting to avoid payment of the judgment award, not some nascent corporation.” (Op. 14). Judge Hamilton maintained his errant belief that Lennar Title was transferring assets to “avoid what everyone now knew would be a judgment in the tens of millions of dollars when judgment finally entered.” (Op. 13). This accusation was at all times without any basis, a fact underscored and confirmed when Lennar Title bonded the judgment in full for purposes of its appeal of the judgment entered in the wage and hour case.⁵ (Op. 49 fn.9 [commenting after noting the judgment had been bonded that “[c]oncerns whether Lennar Title is attempting to evade payment of the judgment appear unwarranted, and raise questions whether such concerns were ever warranted”]).

After the court of appeal issued an alternative writ in connection with Doma’s Section 170.6 writ petition (on January 6, 2022), petitioners facilitated, with Judge Hamilton’s cooperation, their voluntary dismissal of Doma as a defendant in hopes that would moot the disqualification efforts. (Op. 14-16).

⁵ That judgment is currently under appeal at the Fifth Appellate District. No briefs have yet been filed.

Shortly thereafter, in early February 2022, the court of appeal issued an order to show cause and stayed trial court proceedings. (Op. 16). That stay remained in place until July 28, 2022. An independent, neutral judge was assigned to evaluate Doma's Section 170.1 disqualification statement. The neutral judge believed the court of appeal's stay prevented him from resolving the issue of Judge Hamilton's disqualification. (Op. 16-17).

Doma's Section 170.6 writ was eventually denied on the ground it was not timely: Doma's belated addition to the case did not create another peremptory challenge opportunity. In so holding, the court of appeal was careful to state that "[n]othing in this opinion should be read as implying that these entities are, or are not, alter egos or that Doma Title is, or is not, a successor in interest liable for the debts of Former NATC/Lennar Title." (Op. 16). Once the mandate issued and the stay lifted, the neutral judge evaluating Doma's Section 170.1 challenge found it was moot as a result of petitioners voluntarily dismissing Doma as a defendant in the wage and hour case. (Op. 17).

Less than three weeks later, based on Judge Hamilton's verified statement that his comments indicating bias were directed towards Lennar Title and not Doma, Lennar Title filed its own Section 170.1 disqualification statement. (Op. 17). Judge Hamilton struck that

statement as untimely. In doing so, he reiterated his belief that Lennar Title and Doma are “inextricably intertwined” despite the court of appeal’s repeated caution that there was no basis in the record for this belief—no such issue has ever been presented for decision in any court. (Op. 17).

Lennar Title petitioned for a writ of mandate. The parties fully briefed the issues, including with rounds of supplemental briefing and oral argument. (Op. 18).

The court of appeal issued a thorough and well-reasoned opinion concluding that, under the statutory scheme, the grounds on which Lennar Title moved to disqualify Judge Hamilton are not waivable such that implied waiver, by delay in seeking disqualification, is not a basis for the accused judge to strike the statement of disqualification and prevent substantive resolution of the disqualification accusations of personal bias by a neutral judge. In reaching this conclusion, the court surveyed 130 years of case law addressing the various iterations of the judicial disqualification statutory scheme. It also considered this Court’s command that “the disqualification statute should be broadly construed” in order to “instill public confidence in the judiciary.” (Op. 20). Based on that review, the court concluded that, when the legislature enacted the 1990 statutory amendments that prohibit waiver of two forms of judicial

bias in Section 170.3(b)(2), including personal bias, it was well aware of case law concerning implied waiver of bias claims based on their untimely presentation. The legislature nevertheless wrote broadly and unconditionally, preventing waiver as to the types of judicial bias it specified. (Op. 29-32). That prohibition on waiver extends to implied waiver associated with the time when the disqualification statement is filed. Concluding that Lennar Title had stated a “facially sufficient” case of bias that should be considered by a neutral judge (Op. 38-47), the court of appeal directed that a writ issue vacating the order striking Lennar Title’s disqualification statement. (Op. 47).

III. REASONS TO DENY REVIEW

A. The court of appeal’s well-reasoned decision addresses for the first time the interaction among different parts of California’s judicial disqualification statute in a manner that creates no decisional conflicts, conforms to statutory language, and advances the public policies underlying the statutory disqualification scheme.

The court of appeal’s decision addresses for the first time this issue: how do Sections 170.3(c)(1) and 170.4(b), which require a party file a statement for disqualification at the earliest practicable opportunity and allow a judge to strike a statement for disqualification as untimely, interact with Section 170.3(b)(2), which specifies two grounds for disqualification that cannot be waived by the parties to the

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